Clerk of the Court
Received 09/16/2025 03:13 PM
Filed 09/16/2025 03:13 PM

Nos. 25-CV-0086 & 25-CV-0229

In the
District of Columbia
Court of Appeals

QUINN, RACUSIN & GAZZOLA CHARTERED,

Appellant,

v.

PAVICH LAW GROUP, P.C., *et al*,

Appellees.

*On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Civil Division
Case No. 2021-CA-004580-B (Honorable Neal E. Kravitz, Judge)*

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

*Robert N. Kelly (DC Bar # 287276)
Jackson & Campbell, P.C.
2300 N Street, NW, Suite 300
Washington, DC 20037
Telephone: (202) 457-1600
Email: rkelly@jackscamp.com

Tara A. Barnes (DC Bar # 1016902)
Rollins, Smalkin, Richards
& Mackie, L.L.C.
300 East Lombard Street, Suite 900

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Superior Court of the District of Columbia had jurisdiction to hear this matter pursuant to its authority under D.C. Code §§ 16-4422, 16-4423, and 16-4424 to confirm, modify, correct, or vacate an arbitration award upon request of a party.

This Court has jurisdiction to review this matter pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1)'s final judgment rule. This Appeal stems from a final judgment entered by the lower court disposing of all claims and issues before it. The Appellant filed timely notices of appeal following the lower court's January 24, 2025 decision denying the Appellant's petition for judicial review and motion to vacate an arbitration award while granting Appellees' cross-motion to confirm the arbitration award, JA745-748, and following the February 5, 2025 entry of the lower court's final judgment, JA751-754. The appeals were consolidated by this Court in this proceeding, sua sponte.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the lower court erred in conceding to the arbitrator's determination of the scope his jurisdiction under the arbitration clause in the contract as including disputes over the allocation of a total contingency fee among the four law firms involved in representing Wye Oak in the Iraq Litigation, and as including unrelated tort claims?

2. Whether the arbitration clause itself was rendered invalid or unenforceable due to fraud in the inducement and/or duress or coercion?

3. Whether JAMS' Streamlined Arbitration Rules and Procedures compel acceptance of the Arbitrator's determination as to the scope of his jurisdiction?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellee Pavich Law Group (“PLG”) initiated an arbitration involving fellow Appellees Wye Oak Technology, Inc. (“Wye Oak”), Whiteford, Taylor & Preston (“WTP”), Kalbian Hagerty (“KH”) and Appellant Quinn, Racusin & Gazzola Chtd. (“QRG”) seeking a determination of the allocation of contingency fees related to the legal representation of Wye Oak in a breach of contract action in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia against the Republic of Iraq and its Ministry of Defense.¹ In the arbitration, PLG also asserted tort claims for damages against QRG and, subsequently, WTP asserted similar tort claims against QRG. QRG moved to dismiss the arbitration, arguing on jurisdictional grounds that the claims alleged were not arbitrable. That motion was denied by the Arbitrator on May 4, 2020. JA218-223. On May 14, 2020, a subsequent motion to reconsider the denial also was denied. JA224-225.

The tortuous procedural history of this case is recited in the Case Summary, JA004-015. The only aspect of that history that is important to this appeal is the Superior Court’s consideration of the merits of Appellant’s Petition for Judicial Review and Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award. Without the benefit of oral argument, the Superior Court issued a decision on January 24, 2025 denying

¹ The case against Iraq was originally filed in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia, and was subsequently transferred to the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia.

Appellant's Petition and granting Appellees' cross-motion to confirm the final arbitration award. JA724-744. On February 5, 2025, the Superior Court entered its final judgment, consistent with its earlier decision. JA749-750. Notices of appeal were filed within 30 days of both the January 24, 2025 decision and the February 5, 2025 final judgment. JA745-748, JA751-754. The two appeals were consolidated by this Court, acting sua sponte.

The Superior Court confirmed the Final Award issued in the arbitration proceeding. JA088-217. In that Final Award, the Arbitrator allocated a contingency fee only among Appellees WTP, PLG and KH, and awarded tort damages in favor of WTP and PLG against QRG, while dismissing QRG's counterclaim against PLG.² JA215-217. In addition to the tort damages awarded against it, Appellant QRG was allocated a zero percentage share of the total contingency fee. *Id.*

² The Arbitrator had previously issued an Interim Award that addressed liability but reserved the right to revise those liability findings and consider the categories and amounts of damages to be awarded after additional hearings in the arbitration proceeding. Because the Arbitrator in the Final Award re-stated, and in some material instances reversed, his prior findings in the Interim Award, and added findings on damages, the Interim Award is now moot and the superseding Final Award stands alone.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

QRG, PLG, and WTP all represented Wye Oak Technology, Inc. (“Wye Oak”) in a lawsuit against the Republic of Iraq (the “Iraq Litigation”) stemming from agreements between Wye Oak and the Iraq Ministry of Defense to refurbish military equipment and supply it to the Iraqi military.³ The Iraq Litigation was filed in 2009 by QRG, with PLG signing the complaint as *pro hac vice* counsel. WTP was added to the litigation team in 2017 and a substantial judgment (\$120,742,030.78 plus interest, costs and attorneys’ fees) was obtained in favor of Wye Oak in 2019. *Wye Oak Tech., Inc. v. Republic of Iraq*, 2019 WL 4044046 (D.D.C., August 27, 2019). Ultimately that judgment was vacated on jurisdictional grounds by the Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit in *Wye Oak Tech., Inc. v. Republic of Iraq*, 109 F.4th 509 (D.C. Cir. 2024). A petition for certiorari to the U.S. Supreme Court has been filed but not yet ruled upon, and the Supreme Court has invited the Solicitor General to file a brief in the case expressing the views of the United States. *Wye Oak Tech., Inc. v. Republic of Iraq*, 145 S.Ct. 1959 (April 28, 2025).

Wye Oak founder Dale Stoffel first engaged John Quinn and QRG in 1997 to represent his various business and personal interests, and, subsequently, QRG

³ KH also provided litigation support services to Wye Oak in a limited capacity, but it did not enter an appearance as co-counsel for Wye Oak in the Iraq Litigation, nor did it present any affirmative tort claims in the Arbitration. It was, however, awarded a share of the contingency fee in the Final Award.

became general counsel for Wye Oak. QRG assisted Dale Stoffel in implementing the contract with the Iraq Ministry of Defense from mid-2004 until his murder in Iraq in December, 2004. After Dale Stoffel's death, Quinn became a member of the board of Wye Oak. QRG continued to represent Wye Oak in efforts to implement the contract and otherwise pursue Wye Oak's claims against Iraq. When these efforts proved to be unsuccessful, Wye Oak engaged PLG to represent Wye Oak in the proposed litigation.

Wye Oak's and QRG's initial expectation that QRG would serve chiefly as general counsel, reviewing work product of trial counsel for accuracy and adequacy, with the PLG attorneys pulling the laboring oar was not borne out. In all dealings with PLG from that point forward, as the only counsel admitted to the court bar and thus authorized to sign and file pleadings, QRG essentially acted as lead counsel for Wye Oak with scant support from PLG until WTP entered its appearance in the Iraq Litigation in 2017. *See* the April 4, 2022 Supplemental Declaration of John H. Quinn, Jr. at ¶ 6, JA254.⁴ In June 2014, Wye Oak engaged the services of KH to

⁴ The active involvement of Quinn and QRG in prosecuting the Iraq Litigation on Wye Oak's behalf is substantiated by the ruling of U. S. District Judge Lamberth, who presided over the Iraq Litigation in the federal district court in the District of Columbia, awarding Wye Oak its attorneys' fees. That award included \$1,729,379.20 for hourly work performed by QRG, having deemed their rates and hours to have been reasonable and necessary to Wye Oak's representation. This portion of the award included over 1,923 hours of Quinn's time. *See Wye Oak Tech., Inc. v. Republic of Iraq*, 557 F.Supp.3d 65, 102 (D.D.C. 2021).

counsel Wye Oak concerning Iraqi law as needed. *See* Wye Oak/KH retainer agreement, JA239-243. By 2016, Quinn began the process of seeking additional and/or replacement counsel and financing to further prosecute the Iraq Litigation, which had essentially come to a standstill. *See* the April 4, 2022 Supplemental Declaration of John H. Quinn, Jr. at ¶ 6, JA254.

In October 2016, Robert Pavich of PLG initiated contact with Allen Foster of WTP about WTP possibly joining the Wye Oak Litigation Team. In April 2017, WTP agreed to serve as trial counsel with PLG, and both firms entered into fee agreements with Wye Oak. The 2009 PLG fee agreement, the 2014 KH fee agreement, the 2014 PLG addendum, and the 2017 WTP and PLG fee agreements are included in the Joint Appendix at JA 237-252. It should be noted that the WTP and PLG agreements document their agreement for WTP to be compensated by Wye Oak with a 15% contingency fee and PLG to be compensated with a 25% contingency fee, accompanied by PLG's commitment to cover 60% of the litigation expenses advanced by WTP and to provide 60% of the litigation's hourly workload.

Discovery moved forward and the trial in the Iraq Litigation concluded in March 2019. With the expectation of a significant monetary judgment in view, Foster and Erik Bolog of WTP met with Pavich of PLG in early July 2019 to push for an increase in WTP's percentage of the contingency fee, ostensibly under the guise of a "look back" provision in the 2017 fee agreement between Wye Oak and

WTP.⁵ See the transcript of the September 10, 2020 deposition of Robert J. Pavich at pp. 56-59, JA267-270. Bolog and Foster then scheduled a meeting with Quinn, as Wye Oak’s general counsel, to push for an increased fee for WTP. Quinn agreed that WTP’s contribution to the success of the Iraq Litigation was far greater than PLG’s contribution and thus merited an increase in its contingency fee. During this discussion to increase WTP’s percentage of the contingency fee, there was also a proposal to increase the overall contingency fee to include QRG, whose prior fee agreements with Wye Oak were on an hourly basis, although none of those accrued fees had been paid in many years. See the September 8, 2020 Declaration of John H. Quinn, Jr. at ¶¶ 7-9, JA323-325. Foster and Bolog failed to inform Quinn that they had already met with PLG and reached an agreement on allocation with PLG that did not include QRG. See the September 8, 2020 Declaration of John H. Quinn, Jr. at ¶ 7, JA323.

Foster and Bolog were clear that WTP was not only seeking an increase of its share of the attorneys’ fees from 15% to at least 25%, but that it was also enlisting Quinn’s support to persuade PLG to reduce its share of any contingency fee because

⁵ See the August 15, 2019 email from Foster to Pavich and Quinn, JA300. The “look back” provision is merely a clause in the “expenses” section of the fee agreement between WTP and Wye Oak, which allows “a mutually agreeable modification of our fee agreement to reflect the unexpected expense.” JA248.

it had not met its obligations under the prior fee agreements. *See* the September 8, 2020 Declaration of John H. Quinn, Jr. at ¶¶ 7-9, JA323-325.

After Judge Lamberth entered a judgment in excess of \$120 million in favor of Wye Oak in the Iraq Litigation, he issued an order to meet and confer with counsel for the Republic of Iraq on the issue of attorney's fees. QRG understood that accurate reporting to the judge, consistent with the D.C. R. Pro. Conduct 1.5, would require the filing of a petition for reasonable attorneys' fees based on revised and reasonable contingency agreements with each of the law firms retained by Wye Oak. Critically Quinn, on behalf of Wye Oak, agreed with WTP's assertions that the existing fee arrangements lacked the requirement of reasonableness, primarily because they failed to reflect the level of contribution from each firm to the anticipated litigation process and its success.

Ultimately, concerns with PLG's refusal to negotiate a reasonable contingency fee, coupled with a looming deadline in the Iraq Litigation to file a petition for attorneys' fees by December 2, 2019, led to a Wye Oak Board meeting preceded by a conference call in which Quinn, David Stoffel, Foster, Bolog, and Pavich participated on November 29, 2019. *See* Minutes of November 29, 2019 Wye Oak Board of Directors Meeting, JA273-280. Pavich proposed, and the other parties agreed, that Wye Oak would pay a cumulative contingency fee of forty-six percent (46%) to all four firms (including QRG and KH), albeit while reserving the

specific allocation of the 46% among the four firms “to be determined at a later time.” *Id.* at p. 1, JA274.

The Wye Oak Board’s approval of the proposed increase in the total contingency fee to 46% was conveyed to WTP and PLG in an email sent to them by Quinn on behalf of the Board. That email noted that the increase was intended to compensate all of the law firms that provided Iraqi litigation-related services to Wye Oak, “with discussions to continue among the lawyers and Wye Oak as to how each of the firms will be compensated for the services rendered to Wye Oak.” *See* November 29, 2019 email exchange by and between, inter alia, Quinn, Foster, Pavich and David Stoffel, JA276. This decision was made in the absence of any knowledge on the part of either Wye Oak or QRG of the undisclosed prior understanding of July 3, 2019 between PLG and WTP to allocate the 46% contingency fee between themselves alone. *See* September 10, 2020 deposition testimony of Robert Pavich at pp. 58-59, JA269-270.

Foster also told the parties during the November 29, 2019 call that no written contract was required before the fee petition was to be filed the following Monday, December 2, 2019. However, on December 2, 2019, Foster called Quinn and told him that WTP needed a written contract memorializing the November 29, 2019 agreement to attach to the fee petition that was to be filed that same day. Quinn invited Foster and Bolog to the QRG offices to draft what would become the ACAF.

See the September 8, 2020 Declaration of John H. Quinn, Jr. at ¶ 23, JA330. In that drafting session, Foster demanded a JAMS arbitration clause. When Quinn rejected this demand, Foster told Quinn that if he did not agree to adding a JAMS arbitration clause to the agreement, that Foster would not only refuse to sign the agreement, but would use his vast resources to “crush” Quinn and demand at least 30% of the 46% fee agreement, as distinguished from his agreement since the July 15, 2019 meeting with Quinn, acting as Wye Oak’s general counsel, to accept a 25% share. *Id.* In the interest of protecting Wye Oak’s rights to indemnification against Iraq, Quinn acquiesced because of this threat and to protect his client’s interests under the pressure of the looming imminent deadline, given his understanding that the arbitration clause would have no bearing on the separate issue, reserved for future negotiations, of the allocation of the contingency fee, and in the absence of any suggestion that PLG and WTP were planning to pursue tort claims against QRG. *Id.*

The outcome of this drafting session was the Agreement Concerning Attorneys’ Fees (“ACAF”), drafted and signed on December 2, 2019 but back-dated “as of October 15, 2019.” JA234-236. The ACAF was then filed with Wye Oak’s Petition for Attorneys’ Fees.

The ACAF established a collective 46% contingency fee and secondarily established continued roles and fees for QRG and WTP – significantly, excluding PLG - to supervise the appeal and collection efforts. The ACAF references the prior

separate fee agreements entered into between Wye Oak and the various law firms. It recognized that QRG had not been paid any of its fees under a standard hourly fee agreement to serve “as litigation counsel and appellate counsel for the [Iraq] Litigation from 2009 to 2017” and “hereby replaces QRG’s previous hourly fee agreement with a percentage contingent fee.” Further, the ACAF provided that “the existing fee agreements, as contemplated by the parties, for the distribution of fees to compensate attorneys do not accurately or equitably reflect the contribution of time, expenses, and other resources made by each of the parties throughout the course of the Litigation.” ACAF at p. 2, JA201. These provisions of the ACAF unambiguously reflect the understanding of the parties that the ACAF superseded and replaced the prior agreements as to determination of the fees owed to the firms. *See* ACAF, JA200-202. It also was intended to benefit Wye Oak through the transfer of its obligation to pay QRG for litigation services billed on an hourly basis into a share of the contingency fee for QRG.

The ACAF did not establish a set allocation of the 46% contingency fee among the four law firms because its primary purpose was to memorialize the agreement made on November 29, 2019, which included the statement: “We understand that discussions will continue among the lawyers and Wye Oak as to how each of the firms will be compensated for the services rendered to Wye Oak.” *See* email exchange of November 29, 2019, JA272. The ACAF also provided that “[a]ny

claim or dispute between any of the aforementioned parties arising out of or relating to this Agreement [the ACAF] . . . including any fee owed to any party, shall be resolved by arbitration in the District of Columbia.” It is noteworthy to observe that the only disputes over fees that would arise out of or relate to the ACAF are those hourly fees set in Paragraph 2 of the ACAF relating to appellate advocacy and collection efforts by the law firms on behalf of Wye Oak. *See* ACAF at ¶ 2, JA201.

It also is noteworthy that the consent of QRG and Wye Oak to Paragraph 3 of the ACAF (the arbitration provision) was obtained under duress. Quinn, as Wye Oak’s General Counsel, and David Stoffel, Dale Stoffel’s brother and the President of Wye Oak, consistently and repeatedly resisted the inclusion of an arbitration clause. Quinn has stated under oath that:

I, with David Stoffel’s concurrence, had been resisting any agreement committing Wye Oak to arbitration with JAMS except under clearly specified conditions which are not set forth in paragraph 3 of the ACAF. Mr. Foster told me that, unless I agreed to that paragraph, he would use his \$22 million net worth to “crush” me, and would increase his demand for a share of the contingency fee to 30% (instead of the 25% to which he had consistently agreed since July 15, 2019). Because of the threat and the time pressure (because the ACAF was essential to Wye Oak’s fee petition that was due to be filed with the court within hours), I advised Mr. Stoffel to sign the ACAF in order to avoid Wye Oak’s loss of, potentially, tens of millions of dollars in attorneys’ fees. I also advised Mr. Stoffel of the problem with the arbitration provision from Wye Oak’s perspective, but that the alternatives to signing were seemingly nonexistent in view of Mr. Foster’s threat. For

these same reasons, and in the interest of Wye Oak, I signed the ACAF [on behalf of QRG].

See the September 8, 2020 Declaration of John H. Quinn, Jr. at ¶ 23, JA330.

The recitals also speak to the essence of the ACAF and clarify that it is not an agreement to arbitrate the fee allocation dispute, because that allocation was undecided in the ACAF and hence did not arise out of or relate to the ACAF. Two documents, both dated November 29, 2019, demonstrate that this was the contemporaneous understanding of the parties to the ACAF. First, Quinn wrote to Foster on behalf of Wye Oak:

I am authorized to advise you that Wye Oak authorizes advising the court in a fee petition that it is contingently willing to pay an aggregate of 46% of the amount recovered from Defendants to all of the law firms that have provided Iraqi litigation-related services to Wye Oak.

We understand that discussions will continue among the lawyers and Wye Oak as to how each of the firms will be compensated for the services rendered to Wye Oak.

See email exchange of November 29, 2019, JA272 (emphasis added). Then, the minutes documenting the November 29, 2019 Wye Oak Board Meeting report recite that:

During the call, Mr. Pavich proposed that the then-pending impasse among the attorneys with respect to attorney fees which had been reported to the Board at its meeting on November 26 and 27, 2019 be at least partially resolved by an agreement among Wye Oak and all four law firms that have participated in the *Iraqi* litigation pursuant to which Wye Oak would agree to increase its contingency

fee commitment to 46% to compensate all four firms, with varying amounts within the 46% allowance to be determined at a later time.

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