Clerk of the Court
Received 10/16/2025 01:16 PM
Filed 10/16/2025 01:16 PM

In the
District of Columbia
Court of Appeals

QUINN, RACUSIN & GAZZOLA, CHTD,
Appellant,

v.

PAVICH LAW GROUP, P.C., *et al.*,
Appellees.

*On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia
Civil Division in Case No. 2021-CA-004580-B (Honorable Neal E. Kravitz, Judge)*

BRIEF FOR APPELLEES

C. Allen Foster (D.C. Bar No. 411662)
*Eric C. Rowe (D.C. Bar No. 466182)
Masten Childers, III (D.C. Bar No. 1601209)
WHITEFORD, TAYLOR & PRESTON LLP
1800 M Street, NW, Suite 450N
Washington, DC 20036
(202) 659-6800
cafoster@whitefordlaw.com
erowe@whitefordlaw.com
mchilders@whitefordlaw.com

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

QRG's Brief asserts that (1) this Court owes no deference to the Arbitrator's decision on jurisdiction and (2) the arbitration agreement is unenforceable because it was the product of fraud or coercion. Neither assertion provides a basis to disturb the decision of the Superior Court.

On the first issue, settled law establishes that "where, as here, the parties' contract delegates the arbitrability question to an arbitrator, a court may not override the contract," *Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer and White Sales, Inc.*, 586 U.S. 63, 68 (2019), and "[i]n those circumstances, a court possesses no power to decide the arbitrability issue." *Id.* (emphasis added). In other words, "a court *must defer* to an arbitrator's arbitrability decision when the parties submitted that matter to arbitration." *First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan*, 514 U.S. 938, 943 (1995).

Here, QRG’s Brief admits that “[t]he arbitration clause in the ACAF specified arbitration administered by JAMS pursuant to its Streamlined Arbitration Rules and Procedures,” and that “Rule 8(b) provides that jurisdictional and arbitrability disputes shall be ruled on by the Arbitrator.” Appellant’s Brief at 31.

Ignoring the plain rulings of the Supreme Court, QRG urges this Court substitute its view for that of the Arbitrator. But that is not allowed. As this Court has emphasized, “to substitute our judgment for that of the arbitrators would betray the policy—inherent in election of arbitration over a judicial trial—that the parties have bargained for the arbitrators’ judgment, even more than for legal correctness, and thus should not be deprived of that judgment.” *C.R. Calderon Construction, Inc. v. Grunley Construction. Co., Inc.*, 257 A.3d 1046, 1059 (D.C. 2021) (“*Calderon*”) (cleaned up, citation omitted).

For these reasons, QRG’s first argument—that the Arbitrator’s decision on jurisdiction is entitled to no deference—has no support in fact or law.

QRG’s second argument, that the arbitration agreement was the product of fraud or coercion, thereby rendering JAMS Rule 8(b) unenforceable, fares no better. In cases like this one, where the parties have delegated to the arbitrator the power to decide questions concerning the formation, existence or validity of the arbitration agreement, the Court may not revisit the arbitrator’s decision on *those* issues, unless

the claim of fraud or duress is directed specifically to the delegation provision itself. *Rent-A-Center, West, Inc. v. Jackson*, 561 U.S. 63, 68-71 (2010).

The delegation provision in this case was found in JAMS Rule 8(b). Here, QRG has made no claim that its agreement to JAMS Rule 8(b), or even to the JAMS Rules generally, was the product of fraud or duress.

Even if QRG's claim of fraud and duress could be considered by the Court, there is no clear and convincing evidence supporting QRG's assertion. As a result, there is no error, much less clear error, in the Superior Court's conclusion that the evidence produced by QRG actually refutes QRG's claims in this case.

For these reasons, QRG's second argument—that the arbitration agreement should be set aside as a product of fraud or coercion—likewise has no support in fact or law. (The second argument encompasses sections II and III of QRG's Brief.).

D.C. Code §16-4422 requires an arbitration award to be confirmed “unless the award is modified or corrected pursuant to §§ 16-4420 or 16-4424 or is vacated pursuant to § 16-4423,” and § 16-4423(e) provides, “If the court denies a motion to vacate an award, *it shall confirm the award* unless a motion to modify or correct the award is pending.” (emphasis added). Beyond its assertion that its motion to vacate was improperly denied, QRG has not challenged the order confirming the award, or the resulting judgment below.

Accordingly, the judgment below should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court’s review of an arbitration award is limited to the grounds set forth in § 10 of the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”), 9 U.S.C § 10, and in D.C. Code § 16-4423, the District of Columbia’s enactment of the Revised Uniform Arbitration Act. *Hall Street Associates, L.L.C. v. Mattel, Inc.*, 552 U.S. 576, 586 (2008); *C.R. Calderon Constr., Inc. v. Grunley Constr. Co., Inc.*, 257 A.3d 1046, 1058 (D.C. 2021).

This Court reviews *de novo* whether the Superior Court correctly applied the statutory standards. *Fairman v. District of Columbia*, 934 A.2d 438, 442 (D.C. 2007). The Superior Court’s factual findings in an order confirming or refusing to vacate an arbitration award are reviewed for clear error. *Bank of America., N.A. v. District of Columbia*, 80 A.3d 650, 667 (D.C. 2013); *see First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan*, 514 U.S. 938, 948 (1995) (on orders to confirm or vacate an arbitration award, reviewing court should apply clearly erroneous standard to findings of fact and decide questions of law *de novo*).

ARGUMENT

QRG contends that the Arbitrator erred in deciding that the claims presented to him fell within the scope of the arbitration agreement, and further that the arbitration agreement should be set aside altogether because Appellant was fraudulently induced or coerced in agreeing to arbitrate.

For the reasons set forth below, QRG strikes out on both issues.

I. QRG’S CONTENTIONS THAT THE ARBITRATOR’S DECISIONS ON JURISDICTION ARE ENTITLED TO NO DEFERENCE, AND CAN BE DECIDED ANEW BY THE COURT, HAVE NO SUPPORT IN FACT OR LAW.

QRG first contends that this Court owes no deference to the Arbitrator’s decision that the claims asserted against QRG in this case were within the scope of the arbitration agreement, and that the Court may review the jurisdiction issues anew. These contentions have no support in fact or law.

In their agreement to arbitrate, the Parties, including QRG, agreed to arbitrate under the JAMS Streamlined Rules of Arbitration, including Rule 8(b), which provided that the *Arbitrator* would decide any disputes over whether the claims asserted fell within the scope of the arbitration agreement. The rule specifically provides, in pertinent part, that “[j]urisdictional and arbitrability disputes, including disputes over the ... interpretation or scope of the agreement under which Arbitration is sought, ... shall be submitted to and ruled on by the Arbitrator.” JA564 (JAMS Streamlined Rules at page 11).

QRG admits that “Rule 8(b) provides that jurisdictional and arbitrability disputes shall be ruled on by the Arbitrator,” Brief at 30, yet QRG contends that “a court owes an arbitrator's decision regarding his or her own jurisdiction no deference

and the court reviews questions of arbitrability de novo.” Brief at 21. QRG cites no authority for this “no deference” proposition and there is none.

To get to its conclusion, on page 21 of its Brief, QRG cites *Unit Owners Ass'n of 2337 Champlain St. Condo. v. 2337 Champlain St., LLC*, 314 A.3d 1198, 1211 (D.C. 2024) for the proposition that “Interpretation of a contract is a legal question this court reviews *de novo*.”⁷ Then QRG cites *E.E.O.C. v. Waffle House, Inc.*, 534 U.S. 279, 293 (2002) for the proposition that judicial bodies ought to place arbitration agreements “on equal footing with other contracts.” Then QRG cites *Davis v. Chevy Chase Fin. Ltd.*, 667 F.2d 160, 165 (D.C. Cir. 1981) for the proposition that “arbitrators are permitted to decide only those issues that lie within the contractual mandate.” However, none of this supports QRG’s conclusion that the court can review arbitrator’s decision on jurisdiction *de novo*.

To the contrary, where the parties have delegated decisions regarding the scope of the arbitration agreement to the arbitrator, settled law establishes that the Court’s review of the arbitrator’s decision is limited to the grounds set out in the governing statutes, and the Court may not revisit the merits of the decision at all. And, it is precisely *because* arbitration agreements are placed on equal footing with

⁷ *Unit Owners* did not involve review of an arbitration award or the delegation of issues to an arbitrator for decision.

other contracts that the parties' agreement to empower the arbitrator to decide jurisdiction issues must be enforced.

Thirty years ago, in *First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan*, 514 U.S. 938 (1995), the Supreme Court held that if “parties agree to submit the arbitrability question itself to arbitration,” then “the court’s standard for reviewing the arbitrator’s decision about *that* matter should not differ from the standard courts apply when they review any other matter that parties have agreed to arbitrate.” *Id.* at 943 (emphasis in original). In direct contradiction of QRG’s “no deference” position, the Supreme Court ruled that “a court *must defer* to an arbitrator’s arbitrability decision when the parties submitted that matter to arbitration.” 514 U.S. at 943.⁸

⁸ *First Options* applies when there is “clear and unmistakable evidence” that parties have given the Arbitrator the power to decide issues of arbitrability, 514 U.S. at 944. Such clear and unmistakable evidence exists when parties incorporate the rules of arbitration services such as JAMS or the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”) into a contract, and those rules provide for delegation of jurisdiction issues to the arbitrator. *See, e.g., Communications Workers of America v. AT&T Inc.*, 6 F.4th 1344, 1347 (D.C. Cir. 2021) (AAA Rules); *Cooper v. WestEnd Capital Management, L.L.C.*, 832 F.3d 534, 546 (5th Cir. 2016) (JAMS Rules); *Belnap v. Iasis Healthcare*, 844 F.3d 1272, 1284 (10th Cir. 2017) (JAMS Rules); *Patrick v. Running Warehouse, LLC*, 93 F.4th 468, 481 (9th Cir. 2024) (JAMS Rules); *Work v. Intertek Res. Sols., Inc.*, 102 F.4th 769, 772 (5th Cir. 2024) (same; JAMS Rules). QRG admits that “[t]he arbitration clause in the ACAF specified arbitration administered by JAMS pursuant to its Streamlined Arbitration Rules and Procedures,” and that “Rule 8(b) provides that jurisdictional and arbitrability disputes shall be ruled on by the Arbitrator.” Brief at 30. QRG makes no argument that the Arbitrator here was not empowered to decide jurisdictional issues.

This means that the Court’s review of the Arbitrator’s decision on the scope of the arbitration agreement is limited to the statutory grounds for setting aside an award generally. *Id.* at 942-943 (citing 9 U.S.C. § 10). As a result, this Court’s review of the Arbitrator’s decision is limited to the grounds set forth in 9 U.S.C. § 10 and D.C. Code § 16-4423. *Hall Street Associates, L.L.C. v. Mattel, Inc.*, 552 U.S. 576, 586 (2008) (the text compels a reading of the §§10 and 11 categories as exclusive); *Calderon*, 257 A.3d at 1058 (“review is limited to the grounds set forth in D.C. Code § 16-4423”). Generally, § 10(a) of the FAA and D.C. Code § 16-4423 permit the court to vacate the decision of an arbitrator who has exceeded his powers or otherwise engaged in affirmative misconduct. QRG has not cited to any provision in either statute, both of which are quoted in full in the Addendum to this Brief.⁹

D.C. law recognizes that parties may agree to delegate decisions on arbitrability to the arbitrator. *See generally Fraternal Ord. of Police/Metro. Police Dep’t Lab. Comm. v. D.C. Metro. Police Dep’t*, 277 A.3d 1272, 1275 (D.C. 2022) (reinstating arbitrator’s decision on arbitrability where parties had agreed to the arbitrator deciding arbitrability). Cases decided under the Uniform Act have reached the same conclusion as the Supreme Court under the Federal Act. *See Matter of*

⁹ In the Superior Court, QRG argued that the Arbitrator had exceeded his powers (a statutory ground) by rendering a decision that was “completely irrational” and in “manifest disregard” of the applicable law. QRG makes no such argument on appeal and has abandoned those arguments.

Estate of Anches, 9 Wash. App. 2d 1078 (2019) (parties may, by contract, delegate the question of arbitrability to the arbitrator.); *United States Fire Insurance Co. v. American Walks at Port St. Lucie, LLC*, 386 So.3d 575, 580 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2024) (parties agreed to AAA arbitration rules, arbitrability issue was for arbitrator under Uniform Act).

The limitation of the Court’s review to the statutory grounds also means that this Court cannot decide the merits of the scope-of-the-arbitration-agreement issue for itself if the arbitrator has been empowered to decide it. In *Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer and White Sales, Inc.*, 586 U.S. 63 (2019), the Supreme Court ruled that, “if a valid agreement exists, and if the agreement delegates the arbitrability issue to an arbitrator, *a court may not decide the arbitrability issue.*” *Id.* at 69 (emphasis added). The Court explained that, where “the parties’ contract delegates the arbitrability question to an arbitrator, a court may not override the contract.” *Id.* at 68. The Court ruled that this “is true *even if the court thinks that the argument that the arbitration agreement applies to a particular dispute is wholly groundless.*” *Id.* (emphasis added).

The Supreme Court decisions in *First Options* and *Henry Schein*, which QRG neither cites nor distinguishes, dispose of the argument that this Court owes no deference to the Arbitrator’s decisions on these issues.

QRG’s “no deference” argument is not rescued by D.C. Code § 16-4406(b), another authority that QRG has neither cited nor relied upon as a basis for its appeal, but which the Court will undoubtedly come across when it reviews the D.C. Revised Uniform Arbitration Act. That statute provides that “[t]he court shall decide whether an agreement to arbitrate exists or a controversy is subject to an agreement to arbitrate.”

Two separate reasons exist for this statute’s inapplicability to this case. First, D.C. Code § 16-4404(a) provides that parties may agree to waive or vary the effect of the statutory requirements, and the parties here did so by agreeing to the JAMS Rule 8(b).

Second, the law established under the FAA displaces any contrary rule that may exist as a matter of state law. More than forty years ago, the Supreme Court explained that “[i]n enacting § 2 of the federal Act, Congress declared a national policy favoring arbitration and withdrew the power of the states to require a judicial forum for the resolution of claims which the contracting parties agreed to resolve by arbitration.” *Southland Corp. v. Keating*, 465 U.S. 1, 10 (1984). In *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion*, 563 U.S. 333 (2011), the Supreme Court ruled that “When state law prohibits outright the arbitration of a particular type of claim, the analysis is straightforward: The conflicting rule is displaced by the FAA.” *Id.* at 341. Thus,

even if § 16-4406(b) could be read as prohibiting arbitrators from deciding the scope of the arbitration agreement, that prohibition would be displaced by the FAA.

Nor would QRG's claim be rescued by D.C. Code § 16-4423(b) (enacted as part of the Arbitration Act of 2007), also not cited by QRG. It recites that "[t]he court may vacate an award made in the arbitration proceeding on other reasonable ground." In *AI Team USA Holdings, LLC v. Bingham McCutchen LLP*, 998 A.2d 320 (D.C. 2010), this Court ruled that this statute "does not authorize *de novo* review of an arbitrator's award. Rather, this court's review of an arbitration award is still extremely limited." *Id.* at 324.

Under D.C. law, it has long been settled that this Court does not sit in appellate review of arbitrators' decisions and "will not set aside an arbitration award for errors of either law or fact made by the arbitrator." *Shore v. Groom Law Group*, 877 A.2d 86, 91 (D.C. 2005), *as amended* (Mar. 14, 2005). As this Court has explained, "To substitute our judgment for that of the arbitrators would betray the "policy—inherent in election of arbitration over a judicial trial—that the parties have bargained for the arbitrators' judgment, even more than for legal correctness, and thus should not be deprived of that judgment." *Calderon*, 257 A.3d at 1059 (*quoting Cathedral Ave. Co-op., Inc. v. Carter*, 947 A.2d 1143, 1152 (D.C. 2008)).

Judicial review of an arbitration award is not available "merely because a party received an unfavorable result." *Calderon*, 257 A.3d at 1058 (*quoting Stuart*

v. Walker, 143 A.3d 761, 768 (D.C. 2016). As a result, even if QRG were to convince the Court that Judge Levie’s determinations on the scope of the arbitration agreement were incorrect, setting aside the award is not an available remedy, because the parties agreed that Judge Levie would decide that issue. *Stolt-Nielsen S.A. v. AnimalFeeds International Corp.*, 559 U.S. 662, 671 (2010) (“It is not enough for petitioners to show that the panel committed an error—or even a serious error.”).

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